
TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

April 10, 2023 
6:00PM 

___________________________________________________________ 

Meetings may be watched in person, on Channel 22, the Town’s website, or Kittery Channel 
22 Facebook page. 

The public may submit public comments via email, US Mail, or by dropping off written 
comments at the Town Hall.  Emailed comments should be sent to: 
TownComments@kitteryme.org. 

The public may participate in person or via Zoom webinar. To register for the Zoom webinar, 
click this link: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_ZpRxsBF_TbKfA1-0j6BRLA 

Written comments received by noon on the day of the meeting will become part of the 
public record and may be read in whole or in summary by the Council Chair. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

1. Call to Order

2. Introductory

3. Pledge of Allegiance

4. Roll Call

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption

6. Town Manager’s Report

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes

• February 27, 2023

mailto:TownComments@kitteryme.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_ZpRxsBF_TbKfA1-0j6BRLA


8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board.

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town
consultants or requested offices.

a. (040123-01) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a presentation from the 
Kittery School Department on the FY24 Budget. 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS

a. (040123-02) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on Title 16 – 
Stormwater Management (Will be postponed) 

11. DISCUSSION
a. Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)
b. Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor
c. Chairperson’s response to public comments

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS -

13. NEW BUSINESS

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition.

b. (040123-03) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on April 
24, 2023, on Title 12 – Camping. 

c. (040123-04) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on April
24, 2023, on Title 10 – Cutts Island Lane Traffic Safety.

d. (040123-05) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on May 
8, 2023 on the vacation of a paper street in accordance with 23 MRS §3027. 

e. (040123-06) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on May 
1, 2023, on the Town Meeting Referendum and School Budget Ordinances. 

f. (040123-07) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on May
8, 2023 on a new Special Activity/Amusement permit from Rolling in the Mudd LLC
dba When Pigs Fly Restaurant located at 460 US Rte 1, Kittery.

g. (040123-08) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from 
Harbourside Garden Club to post signage around Town from May 20, 2023 to May 
27, 2023 for their annual plant sale.  



h. (040123-09) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint the proposed applicants to 
the Youth Ad Hoc Committee. 

 
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 
a. Communications from the Chairperson  
b. Committee Reports  

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

17. ADJOURNMENT    
         
 
Posted: April 6, 2023 
 



1 

Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 
April 10, 2023 

1. Homelessness Response Preparedness – Our network of social service providers in Kittery and our
Town staff met last week to discuss the homelessness crisis impacting southern Maine, and to develop
a plan for response. Shelters in the immediate area are frequently full, and motel/hotel rooms will
become scarce due to seasonal tourism.  Many of those struggling to obtain shelter turn to living in
tents, cars, and make-shift encampments.

We also know larger communities in our area are struggling with homeless encampments.  We
anticipate those in need of shelter will be forced to migrate around southern Maine until they can get
into permanent housing. Communities up and down the seacoast are challenged with how to address
these situations in a compassionate manner.

The social services group met to discuss how Kittery can respond to an encampment if one of
significance arises in town.  We discussed a number of action steps we will be taking including having
essential supplies ready for deployment (gas cards, sleeping bags, water, portable cooking stoves),
establishing GA relationships with campgrounds in the area for placement (akin to our local
hotels/motels in the winter), and connecting with state agencies that can also be of assistance if needed
for support.

I cannot express how grateful we are for this collaborative and supportive network of nonprofits and
social agencies all working for those in need in our community.  It is clear that we can do more when
we work together.

2. Memorial Circle Beachgrass – The DPW team has begun work on removing the beachgrass around
Memorial Circle and replacing it with lower-height landscaping.  The landscaping will be a mix of low
bushes and some flowering perennials.  The plant selection has been done in consultation with our
vendor to ensure they are hearty enough along roadside settings where full sun, limited water, and salt
are present, and do not require much maintenance.  The project is expected to be completed before
summer.

3. Kittery Community Center Master Plan – A presentation and input gathering session on the KCC
Master Plan concept plan will be held on Wednesday, April 12th at 6PM in Council Chambers.  The
KCC Master Plan is being developed to establish the most beneficial layout for passive and active
recreation space, adequate parking, and site circulation.  The master plan will include
recommendations for implementation strategies including phasing, and provide budget estimates for
each phase or component.

Visitors to the KCC grow each year as programs evolve and expand.  This has lead to conflicting uses
of outdoor spaces, parking shortages, damage to the athletic field, and circulation challenges on the
site. The existing playground is in need of replacement, and the athletic field is not ideally sited for
play, grounds maintenance, and visitor parking/use.

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

kamaral@kitteryme.org  

mailto:kamaral@kitteryme.org


2 

We have been hesitant to invest in replacing or rehabilitating these existing uses, if their locations are 
not ideal for the longer-range site needs and constraints. 

The master plan will help the Town invest wisely, by providing a comprehensive site layout and a 
phasing approach that maximizes the use of each outdoor component.  The master plan will also 
support grant applications and fundraising for implementation. 

The public is invited to attend in person or via Zoom or watch on Channel 22, or the Channel 22 
Facebook page. For more information visit www.kitteryme.gov/KCCMasterPlan  

4. Applications for Absentee Ballots Available – Applications for absentee ballots are available now at 
Town Hall and on the Town’s website for the upcoming June 13 Town Meeting and School Budget 
Validation Referendum. To apply for an absentee ballot or to register to vote, visit the Town Hall or 
the Town’s website, or contact the Town Clerk’s Office at 207-475-1313. Absentee ballots are 
expected to be mailed in early May. 

For more information about the upcoming election, registering to vote, updating voter registration, or 
applying for an absentee ballot please visit www.kitteryme.gov/elections.  

5. April Freebie Barn – April’s Freebie Barn theme is bicycles!  Perfect timing for getting out and 
enjoying the warming weather. 

Our Community Partner for April will be Apex Youth Connection.  Apex connects Maine youth with 
their communities to ensure they have the personal skills and connections to support their transition to 
healthy, happy, productive adulthood.   

Apex will be at the Community Swap on Sunday, April 30, at the KCC and will hold a bike repair 
workshop and provide one on one bike repair and advice.  More details will be announced in April, but 
if you’ve got a bike that needs some TLC, get ready to bring it over to the Community Swap! 

Upcoming Dates: 

• Absentee Ballot Applications Available – Town Hall and at www.kitteryme.gov/Elections 
• KCC Campus Master Plan Input Session – April 12, 6PM, Town Hall 
• York River Partnership Stewardship Committee Applications Due – April 14, Town Clerk 
• Mooring Renewal Deadline – April 15, Harbormaster 
• Observance of Patriots Day – Town Hall Closed – April 17 
• Kittery Education Scholarship Deadline – April 21, Town Clerk’s Office 
• Seacoast Environmental Film Festival – April 22, 8:30AM to 6PM, Kittery Community Center 
• Freebie Barn Community Swap and Bike Repair – April 30, 8AM to 12PM, Kittery Community 

Center 
• Town Meeting and School Budget Validation Referendum – June 13, 8AM to 8PM 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 

http://www.kitteryme.gov/KCCMasterPlan
http://www.kitteryme.gov/elections


Y O U R  V O T E  M A T T E R S ,  S O  C A S T  Y O U R
B A L L O T  A N D  L E T  Y O U R  V O I C E  B E  H E A R D !

Absentee ballot applications are now available for the
June 13, 2023 Town Meeting & School Budget Validation
Referendum Election.  Voters can request an absentee
ballot until 6:00 PM on June 8, 2023.

Request by phone: 207-475-1313 or 207-475-1312.
Request online at www.kitteryme.gov/elections.
Request in person at the Customer Service Center:

Monday - Wednesday: 8:30 AM - 4:00 PM
Thursday: 8:30 AM - 6:00 PM
Friday: 8:30 PM - 1:30 PM

PLEASE NOTE THAT ABSENTEE BALLOTS ARE NOT
AVAILABLE AT THIS TIME. 

FOR MORE INFORMATION, VISIT: WWW.KITTERYME.GOV/ELECTIONS

As soon as the Town Clerk receives absentee ballots,
they will be mailed out to those who have filed an
application, and a notice will be posted online and at
Town Hall announcing that they have arrived.



April 12, 2023 | 6:00 PM
Council Chambers & Zoom

WE WANT TO HEAR
FROM YOU!

Public Input SessionPublic Input Session

The Town of Kittery is developing a
Campus Master Plan for the Kittery
Community Center that will
establish the most beneficial layout
for passive and active recreation
space, adequate parking and site
circulation. 

WE'RE EXCITED

Kittery CommunityKittery Community
Center Master PlanCenter Master Plan

Join us for a Public Input Session to hear from the KCC
Master Plan project team, view the proposed layout
design and provide feedback.  

Your input will help shape the future of the Kittery
Community Center!

www.kitteryme.gov/KCCMasterPlan.
To learn more or register via Zoom, scan the QR code
or visit:



2,000 lbs2,000 lbs
SO FAR WE'VE DONATED & DIVERTED OVER

Way to go, Kittery!  Since
reopening the Freebie Barn in
January 2023, our community
has donated and diverted over
2,000 lbs. from the waste stream!

Learn more at:

www.kitteryme.gov/freebiebarn

W0W!W0W!



Funded from generous donations of
redeemable containers from Kittery residents
at the Kittery Resource Recovery Facility.

Applications are available at Town Hall
or www.kitteryme.gov/scholarship.
Deadline to apply: April 21, 2023.



New Date: Saturday, April 22, 2023New Date: Saturday, April 22, 2023
Kittery Community Center - Star TheatreKittery Community Center - Star Theatre



Read one of our selected titles and join
the conversation at one of our upcoming
public events.

& Big Ideas& Big Ideas
By reading and sharing unique perspectives about topics
that affect our friends and neighbors, we can foster
community understanding and find creative solutions to
help Kittery thrive.

A KITTERY COMMUNITY READ PROGRAM

For more information about
what we're reading and
why, please visit:

WWW.KITTERYME.GOV/READS



                                1 
KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 2 

February 27, 2023 3 
6:00PM 4 

      5 
1. Call to Order 6 

Chair Spiller called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 7 

2. Introductory 8 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 9 

4. Roll Call   10 

Councilors present: Councilor Bragg, Councilor Dow, Vice Chair McGuire, Chair Spiller 11 

Councilors absent: Councilor Hamm (Military Leave), Councilor Clark (vacation) and Councilor 12 
Stevens (work commitment) 13 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 14 

Chair Spiller moves to add 13. h. The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Cheryl Daly to 15 
the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee for a three-year term that expires on 12/31/2026. 16 

Chair Spiller also moves to add 13. i. The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Niles 17 
Pinkham to the Kittery Port Authority for a five-year term that will expire on 12/31/2028. 18 

Chair Spiller cast one vote to accept the agenda as amended. 19 

6. Town Manager’s Report  20 

Town Manager reported on the Recruitment and Retention Package as well as the Next Phase 21 
of Communication Plan Roll Out. 22 

Upcoming Dates: 23 
AARP Tax Aide – Kittery Community Center 24 
KEEP Property Tax Payment Plan Applications – available now 25 
Freebie Barn Community Swap – February 26, 9AM – 12PM 26 
Municipal Career Event – March 1, 4PM 27 
Seacoast Environmental Film Festival – March 4 28 
Shamrock Shindig – March 9, 5:30PM - 7PM 29 
York River Partnership Stewardship Committee Applications Due – April 14 30 
The Stigma of Substance Abuse Free Lecture – April 20, 7PM 31 
 32 



Councilor Dow asked about the age requirements for seasonal staff for Fort Foster as well as 33 
the pay. 34 
Town Manager responded. 35 
 36 
Chair Spiller asked about SeeClickFix and its popularity. 37 
Town Manager responded. 38 
 39 
Vice Chair McGuire asked if SeeClickFix could be done on the website as well as the app. 40 
Town Manager responded. 41 
 42 
 43 
7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes- None 44 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board. - None 45 

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 46 
consultants or requested offices. -None  47 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS-None 48 

11. DISCUSSION 49 
a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  50 
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 51 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 52 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS - None 53 

13. NEW BUSINESS 54 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. None 55 

b. (020223-01) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve an application from the 56 
Kittery Outlets for their 2023 annual Sidewalk Sales Events. 57 

Councilor Dow moves to approve, seconded by Vice Chair McGuire. 58 
Motion passes 4-0-0 59 
 60 

c. (020223-02) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve an application from 61 
Millennium Running for their annual Eastern States Road Race event to be held on 62 
March 26, 2023.  63 

Councilor Dow moves to approve, seconded by Vice Chair Dow. 64 
Motion passes 4-0-0 65 
 66 

d. (020223-03) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint William Peirce to the 67 
Housing Committee for a three-year term to expire December 31, 2026.  68 



Vice Chair McGuire moves to appoint William Pierce to the Housing Committee for a three-69 
year term, expiring on December 31, 2026, seconded by Councilor Bragg. 70 
Motion passes 4-0-0 71 
 72 

e. (020223-04) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a pole relocation 73 
application from Central Maine Power for the corner of Dennett Road and Ranger 74 
Road.  75 

Vice Chair moves to approve the relocation, seconded by Councilor Bragg. 76 
Motion passes 4-0-0 77 
 78 

f. (020223-05) The Kittery Town Council moves to create the Youth Recreation Ad 79 
Hoc Committee.  80 

Councilor Bragg moves to create the Committee, seconded by Councilor Dow. 81 
 82 
Councilor Dow thanked Councilor Bragg for her dedication to the Youth in our community. 83 
 84 
Chair Spiller read a statement from Councilor Hamm who reported that he does think that the 85 
committee and skate park are a good idea but what the Youth really need in the community is 86 
affordable housing so they can afford to live here as they get older. He also reported that he 87 
believes the number of students on the committee should be increased. 88 
 89 
Chair Spiller commented that if the Committee does decide to pursue a skate park, that they 90 
find a non-residential neighborhood in which to build it due to the noise levels they create. 91 
 92 
Motion passes 4-0-0 93 
 94 

g. (020223-06) The Kittery Town Council moves to designate the Climate Adaptation 95 
Committee as the Climate Action Plan Task Force.  96 

Chair Spiller moves to designate the Climate Adaptation Committee as the Climate Action Plan 97 
Task Force, seconded by Vice Chair McGuire. 98 

Councilor Dow asked what the purpose behind this was and if the Committee would still exist. 99 
Chair Spiller responded. 100 
 101 
Motion passes 4-0-0 102 
 103 

h. The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Cheryl Daly to the Diversity, Equity and 104 
Inclusion Committee for a three-year term that expires on 12/31/2026. 105 

 106 
Councilor Dow moved to appoint Cheryl Daly, seconded by Vice Chair McGuire. 107 
Motion passes 4-0-0 108 
 109 

 i. The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Niles Pinkham to the Kittery Port       110 
Authority for a five-year term that will expire on 12/31/2028. 111 

 112 



Vice Chair moved to appoint Niles Pinkham, seconded by Councilor Dow. 113 
Motion passes 4-0-0 114 
 115 
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 116 

Chair Spiller read a statement from Councilor Hamm. He reported that he stands with 117 
Portsmouth, NH and their zero tolerance for hate based attacks.  He also reported that in order 118 
to make all welcome in our town we need to provide more affordable housing. 119 

Councilor Bragg stated that she is excited to work on the Ad Hoc team and that she will be 120 
scheduling the first brainstorming meeting sometime this month. She stated that it is very 121 
important to make the youth feel important and heard. 122 

Councilor Dow asked the best way for residents to apply to be involved in the Ad Hoc 123 
committee. 124 
Councilor Bragg responded. 125 
 126 
Vice Chair McGuire stated that he is serving on the Kittery Block Party Committee and that 127 
they are seeking business sponsors as well as volunteers for the event. He also noted that he 128 
too stands for the folks in Portsmouth in their stand against hate.  129 
 130 
Chair Spiller stated that she spent time at Traip Academy with an instructor and they were 131 
brainstorming a combined effort between the Climate Adaptation Committee and one of the 132 
classes, a project surrounding climate change, specifically flooding. She stated that she is very 133 
impressed by the students work. 134 
 135 
15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 136 

a. Communications from the Chairperson  137 
 138 

Chair Spiller stated that Blue Ocean Society reported that they accomplished 22 beach clean 139 
ups last year, 3 of which were in Kittery. 140 
 141 

b. Committee Reports  142 

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 143 

17. ADJOURNMENT  144 
 145 
Motion to adjourn made by Vice Chair McGuire at 6:34 PM, seconded by Councilor Bragg. 146 
All were in favor.   147 
         148 
 149 
Submitted by Jennifer Wheeler 150 
 151 
Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. Whilst 152 
every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are not 153 
intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a refer to the video of the 154 



meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 155 



























 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
  

R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  CO U N C I L  
 

Meeting Date: March 13, 2023 

Update: April 10, 2023 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Dutch Dunkelberger, Planning Board Chair 

Subject: Title 16 – Stormwater Management 

Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
OVERVIEW 
Please see the attached report from Jason Garnham, Director of Planning and Development. 
 
UPDATE 
The Council is being requested to postpone the public hearing due to a delay in newspaper advertising.  
Per Maine Law, a public hearing must be advertised in a newspaper no less than 13 days prior to the 
public hearing.  Due to the timing of submitting the advertisement and publication deadlines, we were 
unable to meet the 13-day minimum. 
 
The proposed new public hearing date will be May 8, 2023. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION  
Adopt amendment to Title 16 as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 Staff Memo outlining updates to the draft ordinance 
 Draft Title 16 – Stormwater Management 
 Draft Title 16 – Stormwater Management Enactment 
 Southern Maine Stormwater Ordinance Change Overview  
 January 3, 2023 Integrated Environmental Engineering Report to Planning Board 
 Click here for video of the February 23, 2023 vote on recommendation 

 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

1 
 

TITLE 16 
STORMWATER REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. AMEND § 16.2.13 Violations as follows: 1 

D. Notice of violation and order (notice). 2 

(5) Additionally, if there is a violation of § 16.5.19, Nonstormwater Discharge, the enforcement 3 
authority will order compliance by written notice of violation to that person, indicating the 4 
nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it, including, without 5 
limitation:  6 

(a) The elimination of nonstormwater discharges to the storm drainage system, 7 
including, but not limited to, disconnection of the premises from the MS-4; 8 
(b) The immediate cessation of discharge practices or operations in violation of this 9 
section; 10 
(c) At the person's expense, the abatement or remediation (in accordance with best 11 
management practices in DEP rules and regulations) of nonstormwater discharges to 12 
the storm drainage system and the restoration of any affected property; and/or  13 
(d) The payment of fines, of the municipality's remediation costs, and of the 14 
municipality's reasonable administrative costs and attorneys' fees and costs. If 15 
abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property is required, the notice 16 
will set forth a deadline within which such abatement or restoration must be 17 
completed. 18 
(e)  If abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property is required, or if 19 
immediate cessation is not possible or if elimination of the Non-Stormwater Discharge 20 
is not possible within 60 days of identification of the source, the notice shall set forth a 21 
deadline within which such elimination, abatement, or restoration must be completed. 22 

2. AMEND § 16.3.2 Definitions as follows: 23 
QUALIFIED EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL PROFESSIONAL – A person who is certified 24 
by Enviro-Cert International in erosion and sedimentation control practices or is certified by 25 
completing the Maine Department of Environmental Protection Erosion and Sedimentation 26 
Control Practices Workshop, or is a Maine Professional Engineer with at least two years’ 27 
experience in designing Erosion and Sedimentation Control BMPs. 28 

QUALIFIED POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER INSPECTOR — A person 29 
who conducts post-construction stormwater management facilities inspections for 30 
compensation and who has received a Certification in Inspection and Maintenance of Stormwater 31 
BMPs  the appropriate training for the same from the Maine Department of Environmental 32 
Protection or is a Professional Engineer in the State of Maine with an understanding of 33 
stormwater infrastructure and its required maintenance.   34 

REGULATED SMALL MS4 — Any small municipal separate storm sewer system 35 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

2 
 

(MS4) regulated by the State of Maine general permit for the discharge of stormwater 36 
from small municipal separate storm sewer systems, dated July 2013 ("general permit"), renewed 37 
October 15, 2020, modified November 23, 2021 and any amendment or renewal thereof; 38 
including all those located partially or entirely within an urbanized area (UA) and those 39 
additional small MS4s located outside an UA that as of the issuance of the general permit 40 
have been designated by the DEP as regulated small MS4s. The Town of Kittery is a regulated small 41 
MS4. 42 

URBANIZED AREA (UA) — The areas of the State of Maine so defined by the latest  43 
inclusive sum of the 2000 decennial census and the 2010 decennial census by the U.S. Bureau 44 
of the Census. 45 

3. AMEND §16.5 General Performance Standards as follows: 46 
A. Basis/purpose/objectives. 47 
(1) The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its promulgation 48 
of the "General Permit for the Discharge of Stormwater from Small Municipal 49 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems" dated July 2013, has listed the Town of 50 
Kittery as having a regulated small municipal separate storm sewer system 51 
(small MS4); under this general permit, listing as listing of Kittery as a regulated small MS4, 52 
necessitates enactment of this section as part of the municipality's stormwater 53 
management plan. 54 

(2) The creation, initiation, origination and maintenance of the following 55 
nonstormwater discharges to the storm drainage system are allowed as long as 56 
they do not cause or contribute to a violation of the state's water quality 57 
standards: 58 

(a) Flow. Landscape irrigation; diverted stream flows; rising groundwaters; 59 
uncontaminated groundwater infiltration [as defined at 40 CFR 35.2005(20)]; 60 
uncontaminated pumped groundwater; uncontaminated flows from foundation 61 
drains; air-conditioning and compressor condensate; irrigation water; flows from 62 
uncontaminated springs; uncontaminated water from crawl space pumps; 63 
uncontaminated flows from footing drains; lawn watering runoff; flows from 64 
riparian habitats and wetlands; residual street wash water (where spills/leaks of 65 
toxic or hazardous materials have not occurred, unless all spilled material has been 66 
removed and detergents are not used); hydrant flushing and firefighting activity 67 
runoff; water line flushing and discharges from potable water sources; individual 68 
residential car washing; and dechlorinated swimming pool discharges, as defined as 69 
having 0.5 0.05 ppm or less. Pools may only be emptied a minimum of 48 hours 70 
after any chemical treatments were added. 71 

4. AMEND §16.7 General Development Requirements as follows: 72 
§ 16.7.10 Review process and submission requirements 73 

C. Preliminary plan review. 74 
(4) Plan requirements. 75 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

3 
 

(o) Erosion and sedimentation control plan endorsed by the York County Soil 76 
and Water Conservation District or the Town's engineering consultant 77 
prepared by a Qualified Erosion and Sedimentation Control Professional in 78 
accordance with the requirements of § 16.7.11.C; 79 

§ 16.7.11 Performance Standards and Approval Criteria 80 
C. Stormwater and surface drainage. 81 

(1) Adequate provision must be made for drainage of all stormwater generated with 82 
the development and any drained groundwater through a management system of 83 
natural and constructed features. Where possible, existing natural runoff control 84 
features, such as berms, swales, terraces and wooded areas must be retained to 85 
reduce runoff and encourage infiltration of storm waters. Otherwise, drainage may 86 
be accomplished by a management system of constructed features such as swales, 87 
culverts, underdrains and storm drains.  88 

(2) To ensure proper functioning, stormwater runoff control systems must be 89 
maintained in good working order per § 16.7.11D, Post-construction stormwater 90 
management. 91 

(3) Where a development is traversed by a stream, river or surface water drainageway, 92 
or where the Planning Board or Director of Planning and Development determines 93 
that surface runoff should be controlled, easements and or drainage rights-of-way 94 
must be provided which conform substantially to the lines of existing natural 95 
drainage paths. The minimum width of the drainage easements or rights-of-way is 96 
30 feet. 97 

(a) The minimum pipe size for any storm drainage pipe must be 12 inches. 98 
Maximum trench width at the pipe crown must be the outside diameter of 99 
the pipe plus two feet. The pipe must be bedded in a fine granular material, 100 
containing no stones larger than three inches, lumps of clay, or organic 101 
matter, reaching a minimum of six inches below the bottom of the pipe 102 
extending to six inches above the top of the pipe.  103 

(b) Except for normal thinning and landscaping, existing vegetation must be left 104 
intact to prevent soil erosion. 105 

(4) When proposed development does not require Maine Department of 106 
Environmental (MDEP) approval under MDEP Chapters 500 and 502, the 107 
following applies: 108 

(c) Downstream drainage requirements must be studied to determine the 109 
effect of the proposed development. The storm drainage must not 110 
overload existing or future planned storm drainage systems downstream 111 
from the development. The developer is responsible for financing any 112 
improvements to existing drainage systems required to handle the 113 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

4 
 

increased storm flows. 114 

[2] All sediment and erosion control measures must be designed in 115 
accordance with MDEP's "Maine Erosion and Sediment Control 116 
BMPs," March 2003 October 2016 or latest revision. 117 

[5] Where the Board has required a stormwater management and 118 
erosion control plan and MDEP approval under Chapters 500 and 119 
502 is not required, said plan must be reviewed and approved by the Town’s 120 
peer review engineer  endorsed by the York County Soil and Water 121 
Conservation District. 122 

(5) When proposed development does require Maine Department of Environmental 123 
(MDEP) approval under the latest revision of MDEP Chapters 500 and 502 or the 124 
Maine Construction General Permit, the Erosion and Sediment Control Standards of 125 
Maine DEP Stormwater Rule Chapter 500 Appendix A – Erosion and Sediment 126 
Control, Appendix B – Inspections and Maintenance and Appendix C Housekeeping, 127 
shall apply.   128 

D. Post-construction stormwater management. 129 

(2) Authority. The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its 130 
dissemination of the general permit for the discharge of stormwater from small 131 
municipal separate storm sewer systems, has listed the Town of Kittery, Maine, as 132 
having a regulated small municipal separate storm sewer system (small MS4); under 133 
this general permit, listing as a regulated small MS4 requires enactment of this section 134 
as part of the Town's stormwater management program in order to satisfy the Post 135 
Construction minimum control measures required by Part IV D 5 ("Post-construction 136 
stormwater management in new development and redevelopment"). 137 

(3) Applicability. 138 

(d) Post-construction stormwater management plan compliance. 139 

[1] General requirements. Any person owning, operating, leasing or having 140 
control over stormwater management facilities required by a post-141 
construction stormwater management plan approved under the Town's 142 
subdivision, site plan or other zoning, planning or other land use ordinances 143 
must comply with that plan and demonstrate compliance with that plan as 144 
follows:  145 

[a] That person or a A qualified post-construction stormwater inspector 146 
hired by that person must, at least annually, inspect the stormwater 147 
management facilities in accordance with all municipal and state 148 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

5 
 

inspection, cleaning and maintenance requirements of the approved 149 
post-construction stormwater management plan; 150 

[b] If the stormwater management facilities require maintenance to 151 
function as intended by the approved post-construction stormwater 152 
management plan, that person must take corrective action(s) to 153 
address the deficiency or deficiencies within 60 days of identification 154 
of the deficiency. If 60 days is not possible, then the person shall 155 
propose an alternate expeditious schedule to complete the 156 
maintenance, which if approved by the Code Enforcement Officer 157 
must be met; and 158 

[c] That person or a qualified post-construction stormwater inspector 159 
hired by that person must, on or by July 1 of each year, provide a 160 
copy of the annual inspection and a completed and signed 161 
certification to the Code Enforcement Officer in a form provided by 162 
the Town, certifying that the person has inspected the stormwater 163 
management facilities and that they are adequately maintained and 164 
functioning as intended by the approved post-construction 165 
stormwater management plan or that they require maintenance or 166 
repair, describing any required maintenance and any deficiencies 167 
found during inspection of the stormwater management facilities, 168 
and if the stormwater management facilities require maintenance or 169 
repair of deficiencies in order to function as intended by the 170 
approved post-construction stormwater management plan, the 171 
person must provide a record of the required maintenance or 172 
deficiency and corrective action(s) taken.  If any deficiencies are still 173 
outstanding when the certification is submitted in accordance with 174 
paragraph [b] of this section, that person or a qualified post 175 
construction stormwater inspector shall provide documentation of 176 
completion of the maintenance within 30 days of completion.   177 

5. AMEND § 16.8 Subdivision Review as follows: 178 
§ 16.8.9. Review process and submission requirements. 179 

C. Preliminary plan review. 180 

(6) Written submission requirements, preliminary plan. 181 
(d) Erosion and sedimentation control plan endorsed by the York County Soil 182 
and Water Conservation District or the Town's engineering consultant prepared 183 
by a Qualified Erosion and Sedimentation Control Professional in accordance 184 
with the requirements of § 16.8.10.E; 185 

§ 16.8.10 Performance standards and approval criteria. 186 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

6 
 

E. Stormwater and surface drainage. 187 

(4) When proposed development does not require Maine Department of Environmental 188 
(MDEP) approval under MDEP Chapters 500 and 502, the following applies: 189 

(c) Downstream drainage requirements must be studied to determine the effect of 190 
the proposed development. The storm drainage must not overload existing or 191 
future planned storm drainage systems downstream from the development. The 192 
developer is responsible for financing any improvements to existing drainage 193 
systems required to handle the increased storm flows. 194 

[1] Wherever the storm drainage system is not within the right-of-way of a 195 
public street, perpetual easements must be provided to the Town allowing 196 
maintenance and improvement to the system. 197 

[2] All sediment and erosion control measures must be designed in 198 
accordance with MDEP's "Maine Erosion and Sediment Control BMPs," March 199 
2003 October 2016 or latest revision. 200 

[3] Catch basins in streets and roads must be installed where necessary and 201 
located at the curbline. In parking lots and other areas, catch basins must be 202 
located where necessary to ensure proper drainage. 203 

[4] Where soils require a subsurface drainage system, the drains must be 204 
installed and maintained separately from the stormwater drainage system. 205 

[5] Where the Board has required a stormwater management and erosion 206 
control plan and MDEP approval under Chapters 500 and 502 is not required, 207 
said plan must be reviewed and approved by the Town’s peer review engineer 208 
endorsed by the York County Soil and Water Conservation District.  209 

[6] Drainage easements for existing or proposed drainageways located 210 
outside a public way must be maintained and/or improved in accordance § 211 
16.8.10F, Post-construction stormwater management. 212 

(5) When proposed development does require Maine Department of Environmental 213 
(MDEP) approval under most current revision of MDEP Chapters 500 and 502 or the 214 
Maine Construction General Permit, the Erosion and Sediment Control Standards of 215 
Maine DEP Stormwater Rule Chapter 500 Appendix A – Erosion and Sediment 216 
Control, Appendix B – Inspections and Maintenance and Appendix C Housekeeping, 217 
shall apply.   218 

F. Post-construction stormwater management. 219 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

7 
 

(2) Authority. The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its dissemination 220 
of the general permit for the discharge of stormwater from small municipal separate storm 221 
sewer systems, has listed the Town of Kittery, Maine, as having a regulated small municipal 222 
separate storm sewer system (small MS4); under this general permit, listing as a regulated 223 
small MS4 requires enactment of this section as part of the Town's stormwater management 224 
program in order to satisfy the Post Construction minimum control measures required by Part 225 
IV D 5 ("Post-construction stormwater management in new development and 226 
redevelopment"). 227 

(3) Applicability. 228 

(d) Post-construction stormwater management plan compliance. 229 

[1] General requirements. Any person owning, operating, leasing or having control 230 
over stormwater management facilities required by a post-construction stormwater 231 
management plan approved under the Town's subdivision, site plan or other zoning, 232 
planning or other land use ordinances must comply with that plan and demonstrate 233 
compliance with that plan as follows:  234 

[a] That person or a A qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired 235 
by that person must, at least annually, inspect the stormwater management 236 
facilities in accordance with all municipal and state inspection, cleaning and 237 
maintenance requirements of the approved post-construction stormwater 238 
management plan; 239 

[b] If the stormwater management facilities require maintenance to function 240 
as intended by the approved post-construction stormwater management 241 
plan, that person must take corrective action(s) to address the deficiency or 242 
deficiencies within 60 days of identification of the deficiency. If 60 days is 243 
not possible, then the person shall propose an alternate expeditious 244 
schedule to complete the maintenance, which if approved by the Code 245 
Enforcement Officer must be met; and 246 

[c] That person or a qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired by 247 
that person must, on or by July 1 of each year, provide a copy of the annual 248 
inspection and a completed and signed certification to the Code 249 
Enforcement Officer in a form provided by the Town, certifying that the 250 
person has inspected the stormwater management facilities and that they 251 
are adequately maintained and functioning as intended by the approved 252 
post-construction stormwater management plan or that they require 253 
maintenance or repair, describing any required maintenance and any 254 
deficiencies found during inspection of the stormwater management 255 
facilities, and if the stormwater management facilities require maintenance 256 
or repair of deficiencies in order to function as intended by the approved 257 
post-construction stormwater management plan, the person must provide a 258 



DRAFT: March 3, 2023 

8 
 

record of the required maintenance or deficiency and corrective action(s) 259 
taken.  If any deficiencies are still outstanding when the certification is 260 
submitted in accordance with paragraph [b] of this section, that person or a 261 
qualified post construction stormwater inspector shall provide 262 
documentation of completion of the maintenance within 30 days of 263 
completion.   264 



KITTERY TOWN CODE –  
TITLE 16  

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
 

DRAFT: March 13, 2023 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; and 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers 6 
that authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery is required to adopt updates to its stormwater management 10 
requirements in its Land Use Code by June 30, 2023 in accordance with its Maine Department 11 
of Environmental Protection stormwater permit; and  12 

WHEREAS, the Town of Kittery recognizes improved management of stormwater on public and 13 
private development projects is necessary to protect Kittery’s water bodies and reduce water 14 
pollution from stormwater runoff carrying sediments, chemicals, and nutrients from roads and 15 
properties; and 16 

WHEREAS, the proposed amendments to the Town’s Land Use Code reflect best management 17 
practices and proven strategies to reduce the negative impacts of stormwater runoff; 18 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLE 30-A MRS §3001, AND TOWN 19 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENTS TO TOWN 20 
CODE, TITLE 16, LAND USE and DEVELOPMENT CODE, AS PRESENTED. 21 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 22 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 23 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 24 

passed by a vote of _______. 25 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 26 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 27 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 28 



Kristie Rabasca, 
Integrated Environmental Engineering, Inc. 
Environmental Engineer

Focus: Erosion/Sediment Control Standards, Post 
Construction changes and Non-Stormwater 
Discharge changes to be adopted by 6/30/2023

Presented to Kittery Planning Board 1/12/2023



Ordinance changes required by General Permit 
for Stormwater Discharges from the Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer System  (MS4 General 
permit)

Town has been regulated by this since 2003.

Previously presented to PB 5/26/2022 (if this 
looks familiar)

Stormwater Ordinance Changes



Stormwater Ordinance Changes
Maine DEP MS4 Permits

2003 – 2008

2008 – 2013

2013 – 2022

New Permit Began 7/1/2022

Stormwater Management Plan 
provides more detail.  
(Available on Public Works 
Stormwater Page) 



Stormwater Ordinance Changes
General Permit only 
required in Urbanized 
Area
US census high density 

areas with lots of 
impervious surface
Shown here in pink 

hashing (2000 and 2010 
only, 2020 does not 
apply)



Stormwater Ordinance Changes
High impervious 
cover (paved and 
roofed areas)

Allows pollutants 
to build up

Which are 
released to waters 
when it rains. Graphic credit:  www.NSA.gov



Stormwater Ordinance Changes

1. Public Education/Outreach
2. Public Participation 
3. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination
4. Construction Runoff Control
5. Post Construction Runoff Control
6. Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping

Control Measures to Minimize Pollutants  



Erosion Sediment Control (ESC) 
Requirements
 “Create or Update an ordinance or other regulatory 

mechanism that requires the use of erosion and sediment 
control BMPs at construction sites consistent with the 
minimum standards outlined in Appendix C, Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control, Inspections and Maintenance and 
Housekeeping of this GP” by 6/30/2023.

MS4 Appendix C is same as Chapter 500 State Requirements 
in Appendices A, B, and C, including waste control for some 
additional items.  



Sampling of ESC Requirements
Erosion Sediment Control (ESC) Requirements:

Threshold is one acre or more of disturbance, or 
smaller sites if they are part of a larger common 
plan of development or sale that would disturb 
one acre or more.
 ESC Measures in place before construction begins
Remain in place throughout construction
Adequate and timely maintenance required



Sampling of ESC Requirements

Weekly,
Before a rain event, and 
After a rain event (w/in 24 hours).
Keep a log (for DEP and Town to inspect)

When needed repair ESC BMPs as follows:
 Initiate upon discovery
 Complete before end of next workday
 Allows completion within 7 days if longer needed, 

and
 Prior to any rain event.

Inspections During Construction – By Contractor/Developer



Sampling of ESC Requirements
Stabilized Construction Entrances
Aggregate and filter fabric
Protects public right of way
Maintenance required until all 

areas are stabilized.



Sampling of ESC Requirements 
Definitions and standards for Permanent 
Stabilization and Winter Construction



Sampling of ESC Requirements 

These are already state 
requirements under Chapter 500. 

Nominal Impact to Developers or 
Staff (Time and $)



Post Construction Ordinance changes
Has been a Kittery requirement since 2009

Requires private developments to:
Maintain stormwater systems
Certify annual to Town they have inspected and 

maintained

Updates required:  
Use a “Qualified” inspector
Provide a copy of the inspection report
Correct any maintenance issues within 60 days



Non-Stormwater Discharge changes
This ordinance has been a Kittery requirement 
since 2004

Prohibits discharge of pollutants and  illegal 
connections into storm drain system.

Updates required: 
Definition and “authority” updates for new permit

Requires immediate cessation of discharge
Requires a formal schedule if a connection cannot be eliminated 
within 60 days of identification.  



Low Impact Development update
Low Impact Development (LID) - Means a broad 

approach to site planning that preserves natural 
resources, processes, and habitat, defines what 
portions of the site are suitable for development and 
then utilizes Stormwater Treatment Measures to 
manage runoff from the proposed developed 
impervious areas. In LID, Stormwater Treatment 
Measures using natural processes such as vegetated 
buffers are given preference over constructed 
treatment Stormwater Treatment Measures. The goals 
of LID are to minimize the environmental impacts of 
the development.



Low Impact Development update
Town submitted an intent to adopt document to 

DEP in August 2022
DEP sent out for Clean Water Act Public Comment
Friends of Casco Bay commented
DEP gave okay to adopt Kittery Submittal without 

changes.

But DEP is also updating Chapter 500 and may 
incorporate LID, so we should HOLD.  (changes not 
due until 6/30/2024, so okay to hold). 



Low Impact Development update
Required LID Measure 
to address

Performance Standard Model Ordinance Content

2. Protect the Natural 
Drainage System and 
others

Require the use of Maine 
Stream Smart Principles for 
crossings of Waters of the 
State

Submittals:
Show Waters of the State on 
Project Plans
Provide detailed plans
Completed by Professional 
Engineer who has completed 
Audubon Stream Smart 
program



Model Ordinance for
Low Impact Development (LID) Strategies

Predevelopment – 2 acre wooded site, 
mostly type C and D soils (not well 
drained)
One drainage area with one Drainageway
Tc = 18 minutes, flow length = 600 feet

Post development – 3-4 drainage areas
Installation of Stream Smart crossings 
would preserve predevelopment 
Drainageway or could adjust roadways to 
avoid.

1. Protect sensitive areas from 
development
2. Limits of disturbance
3. Maine Stream Smart Crossings
4. Parking stall size
5. Requiring treatment of runoff
6. Snow storage
7. Tilling and soil testing if needed
8. Use Native/Climate Resil. vegetation
Any other optional items

Building

Parking

S
n
o
w



Overview – Staff recommendations
3 proposed changes before you now have nominal impact to staff 
or development

Though MS4 requirements are only for Urbanized Area, staff 
recommends Town wide (consistent with historical application)

Staff also recommends adopting ESC standards in Chapter 500 by 
reference to facilitate understanding by developers and reviewers. 

Maine DEP will be updating Chapter 500, so adoption by 
reference will likely prevent us from having to update standards 
again. 

Note that Staff also recommends holding on implementation of 
Low Impact Development standards (begin ~September 2023 for 
6/30/2024 adoption)



 
 

 
 

1 2  F a r m s  E d g e  R o a d  C a p e  E l i z a b e t h ,  M E  0 4 1 0 7  

Ms. Jessa Kellogg     January 3, 2023 
Public Works Inspector 
200 Rogers Road Ext 
Kittery, ME 03904 
 
Subject:  MS4 Stormwater Ordinance changes required to be implemented by 6/30/2023 and 
Low Impact Development Changes update – For Planning Board Consideration. 
 
Dear Ms. Kellogg: 
 
This letter provides materials for review by the Planning Board related to three ordinance 
changes required by the General Permit for Stormwater Discharges from the Municipal Separate 
Storm Sewer Systems (MS4s) as well as an update related to a fourth ordinance change for Low 
Impact Development.   
 
Changes required by 6/30/2023:  The changes listed below are required to be incorporated into 
the Kittery Code by 6/30/2023:  
 

1. adoption of specific erosion and sedimentation control standards for proposed 
developments,  

2. requiring timely maintenance of private stormwater infrastructure after construction 
and updating schedules for enforcement and  

3. requiring timely removal of non-stormwater discharges from the Town’s separated 
storm drain system.   

 
The changes will be limited to several sections of Title 16 Land Use and Development Code. 
 
We provided a brief overview of these requirements to the Town Council at their February 28, 
2022 meeting, and a more detailed overview to the Planning Board at their May 26, 2022 
meeting.  We also reviewed these documents with the Kittery Land Issues Committee (KLIC) on 
12/12/2022 and have incorporated changes based on their review and comment. 
 
We have also updated the text of the non-stormwater discharge ordinance to better reflect the 
language in the MS4 General Permit.   
 
 The attachment to this letter provides an introductory overview of each of the three 
requirements and as well as proposed redline/strike out changes to the Code.   

 
Because these changes must be codified by 6/30/2023, we understand the Planning Board 
intends to review them at their 1/12/2023 workshop to allow the Town Council to review the 
changes and hold public hearings in early 2023.  
 
LID Ordinance Updates required by 6/30/2024:  On 8/22/2022 we advised the Town Council 
about the above listed changes and reviewed the MS4 requirements to adopt Low Impact 
Development Standards.  We provide a draft set of standards that the Town intended to adopt, 



P a g e  2  

which were based on a Model Ordinance prepared under a Maine Coastal Program Grant.  The 
draft set of LID standards were subsequently sent to the Maine DEP for Clean Water Act-based 
Public Comment.  Maine DEP sent these out for Public Comment in September.  Though there 
were comments from Friends of Casco Bay on the standards, the Maine DEP approved the 
Town’s submittal without change, and the Town is clear to commence adoption of these 
standards.   
 
The approval letter provided to the Town stated:   

 
The Department has no objection to the proposal as written.  However, the 
Department would like the Town to be aware that the Department is in the 
process of commencing rulemaking to revise 06-096 Chapter 500, Stormwater 
Management. The rulemaking process will include stakeholder meetings to 
receive input from regulated entities, consulting firms, non-governmental 
organizations and other interested parties. Kerem Gungor in the Bureau of Land 
Resources will be the Department contact for this rulemaking and he will be 
reaching out to stakeholders for their participation in early to mid-March 2023. 
 
The final rule is likely to contain clear, specific and measurable LID measures and 
techniques that the Town may want to incorporate into the final LID Ordinance to 
clarify expectations and the enforceability of the ordinance. 

 
As such, the Town may want to wait to adopt the LID changes until the Chapter 500 Rulemaking 
process has progressed so they can ensure there are no conflicts between the LID standards 
proposed by the Town and the LID standards that may be adopted statewide.  We suggest 
postponing adoption of the LID standards until the Fall of 2023, when the Chapter 500 update 
schedule and content may be clearer.   
 
 
Closing:   I have held open the meeting dates you proposed to support review of these changes.  
If you have any questions about this information or need changes in advance of the meetings, 
please let me know. I can be reached at 207-415-5830 or via email 
krabasca@integratedenv.com.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
Integrated Environmental Engineering, Inc.  

 
Kristie L. Rabasca, P.E., LEED AP BD + C 
Attachments:  Redline Strikeout proposed changes to Title 16 Land Use and Development Code to address MS4 
General Permit requirements.   

  



P a g e  3  

1/3/2023 Proposed Changes to Kittery Land Use and Development Code to address MS4 
Requirements by 6/30/2023 

 
EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL CHANGES 
 
Erosion and Sedimentation Control (ESC) standards must be incorporated into the Town’s 
ordinances for any proposed development that disturbs one or more acres of land. The standards 
are listed in the MS4 General Permit, and are the same as the Maine DEP Chapter 500 standards for 
erosion and sedimentation control.  Staff recommends incorporating the standards by reference to 
facilitate design and understanding by developers and reviewers.    
 
One change we have made to the standards that is different than the State Chapter 500 regulations 
is to require that a Qualified Erosion and Sedimentation Control Professional prepare any Erosion 
and Sedimentation Control Plan.  The proposed changes to the affected sections of the Land Use 
and Development Code are presented below (additions are shown in italics and underlined, 
deletions are shown as strikethrough):   
 
§ 16.3.2 Definitions 
QUALIFIED EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL PROFESSIONAL – A person who 
is certified by Enviro-Cert International in erosion and sedimentation control practices or is 
certified by completing the Maine Department of Environmental Protection Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control Practices Workshop, or is a Maine Professional Engineer with at least 
two years’ experience in designing Erosion and Sedimentation Control BMPs. 
 
16.7 General Development Requirements 
 
§ 16.7.10 Review process and submission requirements 
 

C. Preliminary plan review. 
(4) Plan requirements. 

(o) Erosion and sedimentation control plan endorsed by the York County Soil 
and Water Conservation District or the Town's engineering consultant 
prepared by a Qualified Erosion and Sedimentation Control Professional in 
accordance with the requirements of § 16.7.11.C; 

 
 
§ 16.7.11 Performance Standards and Approval Criteria 
 

C. Stormwater and surface drainage. 
 

(1) Adequate provision must be made for drainage of all stormwater generated with the 
development and any drained groundwater through a management system of natural 
and constructed features. Where possible, existing natural runoff control features, 



P a g e  4  

such as berms, swales, terraces and wooded areas must be retained to reduce runoff 
and encourage infiltration of storm waters. Otherwise, drainage may be accomplished 
by a management system of constructed features such as swales, culverts, underdrains 
and storm drains.  

(2) To ensure proper functioning, stormwater runoff control systems must be maintained 
in good working order per § 16.7.11D, Post-construction stormwater management. 

(3) Where a development is traversed by a stream, river or surface water drainageway, or 
where the Planning Board or Director of Planning and Development determines that 
surface runoff should be controlled, easements and or drainage rights-of-way must be 
provided which conform substantially to the lines of existing natural drainage paths. 
The minimum width of the drainage easements or rights-of-way is 30 feet. 

(a) The minimum pipe size for any storm drainage pipe must be 12 inches. 
Maximum trench width at the pipe crown must be the outside diameter of the 
pipe plus two feet. The pipe must be bedded in a fine granular material, 
containing no stones larger than three inches, lumps of clay, or organic matter, 
reaching a minimum of six inches below the bottom of the pipe extending to 
six inches above the top of the pipe.  

(b) Except for normal thinning and landscaping, existing vegetation must be left 
intact to prevent soil erosion. 

 
(4) When proposed development does not require Maine Department of 
Environmental (MDEP) approval under MDEP Chapters 500 and 502, the 
following applies: 
 

(c) Downstream drainage requirements must be studied to determine the 
effect of the proposed development. The storm drainage must not 
overload existing or future planned storm drainage systems downstream 
from the development. The developer is responsible for financing any 
improvements to existing drainage systems required to handle the 

increased storm flows. 
 

[2] All sediment and erosion control measures must be designed in 
accordance with MDEP's "Maine Erosion and Sediment Control 
BMPs," March 2003 October 2016 or latest revision. 
 
[5] Where the Board has required a stormwater management and 
erosion control plan and MDEP approval under Chapters 500 and 
502 is not required, said plan must be reviewed and approved by the Town’s 
peer review engineer  endorsed by the York County Soil and Water 
Conservation District. 

 
 

(5) When proposed development does require Maine Department of Environmental 
(MDEP) approval under the latest revision of MDEP Chapters 500 and 502 or the 
Maine Construction General Permit, the Erosion and Sediment Control Standards of 
Maine DEP Stormwater Rule Chapter 500 Appendix A – Erosion and Sediment 



P a g e  5  

Control, Appendix B – Inspections and Maintenance and Appendix C Housekeeping, 
shall apply.   

 
§ 16.8 Subdivision Review 
 
§ 16.8.9. Review process and submission requirements. 
 

C. Preliminary plan review. 
(6) Written submission requirements, preliminary plan. 

(d) Erosion and sedimentation control plan endorsed by the York County Soil 
and Water Conservation District or the Town's engineering consultant prepared by 
a Qualified Erosion and Sedimentation Control Professional in accordance with 
the requirements of § 16.8.10.E; 

 
§ 16.8.10 Performance standards and approval criteria. 
 
E. Stormwater and surface drainage. 
 

(4) When proposed development does not require Maine Department of Environmental 
(MDEP) approval under MDEP Chapters 500 and 502, the following applies: 

 
(c) Downstream drainage requirements must be studied to determine the effect of the 

proposed development. The storm drainage must not overload existing or future 
planned storm drainage systems downstream from the development. The developer 
is responsible for financing any improvements to existing drainage systems required 
to handle the increased storm flows. 

 
[1] Wherever the storm drainage system is not within the right-of-way of a 
public street, perpetual easements must be provided to the Town allowing 
maintenance and improvement to the system. 
 
[2] All sediment and erosion control measures must be designed in accordance 
with MDEP's "Maine Erosion and Sediment Control BMPs," March 2003 
October 2016 or latest revision. 
 
[3] Catch basins in streets and roads must be installed where necessary and 
located at the curbline. In parking lots and other areas, catch basins must be 
located where necessary to ensure proper drainage. 
 
[4] Where soils require a subsurface drainage system, the drains must be 
installed and maintained separately from the stormwater drainage system. 
 
[5] Where the Board has required a stormwater management and erosion control 
plan and MDEP approval under Chapters 500 and 502 is not required, said plan 
must be reviewed and approved by the Town’s peer review engineer endorsed 
by the York County Soil and Water Conservation District.  



P a g e  6  

 
[6] Drainage easements for existing or proposed drainageways located outside a 
public way must be maintained and/or improved in accordance § 16.8.10F, 
Post-construction stormwater management. 

 
(5) When proposed development does require Maine Department of Environmental 
(MDEP) approval under most current revision of MDEP Chapters 500 and 502 or 
the Maine Construction General Permit, the Erosion and Sediment Control Standards 
of Maine DEP Stormwater Rule Chapter 500 Appendix A – Erosion and Sediment 
Control, Appendix B – Inspections and Maintenance and Appendix C Housekeeping, 
shall apply.   

 
  



P a g e  7  

POST CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT CHANGES 
 
Post-Construction Stormwater Management requirements have been part of the Town’s code since 
2009 to ensure that stormwater infrastructure that is owned by private developments is inspected 
and maintained.  This portion of the Town’s code requires maintenance in accordance with a Post 
Construction Stormwater Plan, annual inspections on the infrastructure and certification annually to 
the Town that the system has been maintained, inspected and is functioning as intended.  
 
The 2022 MS4 General Permit requires that we update this ordinance to ensure any corrective 
measures identified by the owner or inspector are implemented within 60 days of identification or if 
that is not possible, in accordance with a schedule that is approved by the Code Enforcement Office.  
The 2022 MS4 General Permit also requires that any inspector (whether the Owner/Operator or a 
third-party) be a Qualified Inspector and that a copy of the inspection report be provided to the 
Town.  We have updated the Definitions sections and General Development and Subdivision 
sections to incorporate the new requirements.   The affected sections of the Land Use and 
Development Code are presented below:   
 
§ 16.3.2 Definitions 
 
QUALIFIED POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER INSPECTOR — A person 
who conducts post-construction stormwater management facilities inspections for 
compensation and who has received a Certification in Inspection and Maintenance of Stormwater 
BMPs  the appropriate training for the same from the Maine Department of Environmental 
Protection or is a Professional Engineer in the State of Maine with an understanding of stormwater 
infrastructure and its required maintenance.  . 

 
 
16.7 General Development Requirements 
 
§ 16.7.11 Performance standards and approval criteria 
 
D. Post-construction stormwater management. 
 
(2) Authority. The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its dissemination of 
the general permit for the discharge of stormwater from small municipal separate storm sewer 
systems, has listed the Town of Kittery, Maine, as having a regulated small municipal separate 
storm sewer system (small MS4); under this general permit, listing as a regulated small MS4 
requires enactment of this section as part of the Town's stormwater management program in 
order to satisfy the Post Construction minimum control measures required by Part IV D 5 ("Post-
construction stormwater management in new development and redevelopment"). 
 
(3) Applicability. 
 

(d) Post-construction stormwater management plan compliance. 
 



P a g e  8  

[1] General requirements. Any person owning, operating, leasing or having control over 
stormwater management facilities required by a post-construction stormwater 
management plan approved under the Town's subdivision, site plan or other zoning, 
planning or other land use ordinances must comply with that plan and demonstrate 
compliance with that plan as follows:  

[a] That person or a A qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired by 
that person must, at least annually, inspect the stormwater management 
facilities in accordance with all municipal and state inspection, cleaning and 
maintenance requirements of the approved post-construction stormwater 
management plan; 

[b] If the stormwater management facilities require maintenance to function as 
intended by the approved post-construction stormwater management plan, that 
person must take corrective action(s) to address the deficiency or deficiencies 
within 60 days of identification of the deficiency. If 60 days is not possible, 
then the person shall propose an alternate expeditious schedule to complete 
the maintenance, which if approved by the Code Enforcement Officer must be 
met; and 

[c] That person or a qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired by 
that person must, on or by July 1 of each year, provide a copy of the annual 
inspection and a completed and signed certification to the Code Enforcement 
Officer in a form provided by the Town, certifying that the person has 
inspected the stormwater management facilities and that they are adequately 
maintained and functioning as intended by the approved post-construction 
stormwater management plan or that they require maintenance or repair, 
describing any required maintenance and any deficiencies found during 
inspection of the stormwater management facilities, and if the stormwater 
management facilities require maintenance or repair of deficiencies in order to 
function as intended by the approved post-construction stormwater 
management plan, the person must provide a record of the required 
maintenance or deficiency and corrective action(s) taken.  If any deficiencies 
are still outstanding when the certification is submitted in accordance with 
paragraph [b] of this section, that person or a qualified post construction 
stormwater inspector shall provide documentation of completion of the 
maintenance within 30 days of completion.   

 
 
 

§ 16.8 Subdivision Review 
 
§ 16.8.10 Performance standards and approval criteria. 
 
F. Post-construction stormwater management. 
 
(2) Authority. The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its dissemination of 
the general permit for the discharge of stormwater from small municipal separate storm sewer 
systems, has listed the Town of Kittery, Maine, as having a regulated small municipal separate 



P a g e  9  

storm sewer system (small MS4); under this general permit, listing as a regulated small MS4 
requires enactment of this section as part of the Town's stormwater management program in 
order to satisfy the Post Construction minimum control measures required by Part IV D 5 ("Post-
construction stormwater management in new development and redevelopment"). 
 
(3) Applicability. 
 

(d) Post-construction stormwater management plan compliance. 
 

[1] General requirements. Any person owning, operating, leasing or having control over 
stormwater management facilities required by a post-construction stormwater 
management plan approved under the Town's subdivision, site plan or other zoning, 
planning or other land use ordinances must comply with that plan and demonstrate 
compliance with that plan as follows:  

[a] That person or a A qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired by 
that person must, at least annually, inspect the stormwater management 
facilities in accordance with all municipal and state inspection, cleaning and 
maintenance requirements of the approved post-construction stormwater 
management plan; 

[b] If the stormwater management facilities require maintenance to function as 
intended by the approved post-construction stormwater management plan, that 
person must take corrective action(s) to address the deficiency or deficiencies 
within 60 days of identification of the deficiency. If 60 days is not possible, then the 
person shall propose an alternate expeditious schedule to complete the 
maintenance, which if approved by the Code Enforcement Officer must be met; and 

[c] That person or a qualified post-construction stormwater inspector hired by 
that person must, on or by July 1 of each year, provide a copy of the annual 
inspection and a completed and signed certification to the Code Enforcement 
Officer in a form provided by the Town, certifying that the person has 
inspected the stormwater management facilities and that they are adequately 
maintained and functioning as intended by the approved post-construction 
stormwater management plan or that they require maintenance or repair, 
describing any required maintenance and any deficiencies found during 
inspection of the stormwater management facilities, and if the stormwater 
management facilities require maintenance or repair of deficiencies in order to 
function as intended by the approved post-construction stormwater 
management plan, the person must provide a record of the required 
maintenance or deficiency and corrective action(s) taken.  If any deficiencies 
are still outstanding when the certification is submitted in accordance with 
paragraph [b] of this section, that person or a qualified post construction 
stormwater inspector shall provide documentation of completion of the 
maintenance within 30 days of completion.   

 
 
  



P a g e  1 0  

 
 
NONSTORMWATER DISCHARGE CHANGES 
 
Nonstormwater Discharge prohibitions have been part of the Town’s code since 2004 to ensure that 
pollutants are not discharged into the storm drain system (either by dumping or by direct connection).   
The 2022 MS4 General Permit requires that we update this section of the Land Use and Development 
Code to ensure that the source of an illicit discharge into the storm drain system is eliminated within 60 
days of discovery, or if that is not possible, in accordance with a schedule that is approved by the Code 
Enforcement Office.  We have updated § 16.2.13. Violations and penalties. And § 16.5.19. 
Nonstormwater discharge  to incorporate these changes including updating some definitions in §16.3.2.   
 
 
§ 16.3.2 Definitions 
 
URBANIZED AREA (UA) — The areas of the State of Maine so defined by the latest  
inclusive sum of the 2000 decennial census and the 2010 decennial census by the U.S. 
Bureau of the Census. 

 
REGULATED SMALL MS4 — Any small municipal separate storm sewer system 
(MS4) regulated by the State of Maine general permit for the discharge of stormwater 
from small municipal separate storm sewer systems, dated July 2013 ("general permit"), renewed 
October 15, 2020, modified November 23, 2021 and any amendment or renewal thereof; 
including all those located partially or entirely within an urbanized area (UA) and those 
additional small MS4s located outside an UA that as of the issuance of the general permit 
have been designated by the DEP as regulated small MS4s. The Town of Kittery is a regulated 
small MS4. 
 
 
§ 16.2.13. Violations and penalties. 
 
D. Notice of violation and order (notice). 
 
(5) Additionally, if there is a violation of § 16.5.19, Nonstormwater Discharge, the enforcement 

authority will order compliance by written notice of violation to that person, indicating the 
nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it, including, without 
limitation:  

(a) The elimination of nonstormwater discharges to the storm drainage system, 
including, but not limited to, disconnection of the premises from the MS-4; 

(b) The immediate cessation of discharge practices or operations in violation of this 
section; 

(c) At the person's expense, the abatement or remediation (in accordance with best 
management practices in DEP rules and regulations) of nonstormwater discharges 
to the storm drainage system and the restoration of any affected property; and/or  



P a g e  1 1  

(d) The payment of fines, of the municipality's remediation costs, and of the 
municipality's reasonable administrative costs and attorneys' fees and costs. If 
abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property is required, the 
notice will set forth a deadline within which such abatement or restoration must 
be completed. 

(e)  If abatement of a violation and/or restoration of affected property is required, or 
if immediate cessation is not possible or if elimination of the Non-Stormwater 
Discharge is not possible within 60 days of identification of the source, the notice 
shall set forth a deadline within which such elimination, abatement, or restoration 
must be completed. 

 
 
§ 16.5.19. Nonstormwater discharge. 
 
A. Basis/purpose/objectives. 
 
(1) The Maine Department of Environmental Protection, through its promulgation 
of the "General Permit for the Discharge of Stormwater from Small Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems" dated July 2013, has listed the Town of 
Kittery as having a regulated small municipal separate storm sewer system 
(small MS4); under this general permit, listing as listing of Kittery as a regulated small MS4, 
necessitates enactment of this section as part of the municipality's stormwater 
management plan. 
 
(2) The creation, initiation, origination and maintenance of the following 
nonstormwater discharges to the storm drainage system are allowed as long as 
they do not cause or contribute to a violation of the state's water quality 
standards: 
 

(a) Flow. Landscape irrigation; diverted stream flows; rising groundwaters; 
uncontaminated groundwater infiltration [as defined at 40 CFR 35.2005(20)]; 
uncontaminated pumped groundwater; uncontaminated flows from foundation drains; 
air-conditioning and compressor condensate; irrigation water; flows from 
uncontaminated springs; uncontaminated water from crawl space pumps; 
uncontaminated flows from footing drains; lawn watering runoff; flows from riparian 
habitats and wetlands; residual street wash water (where spills/leaks of toxic or 
hazardous materials have not occurred, unless all spilled material has been removed 
and detergents are not used); hydrant flushing and firefighting activity runoff; water 
line flushing and discharges from potable water sources; individual residential car 
washing; and dechlorinated swimming pool discharges, as defined as having 0.5 0.05 
ppm or less. Pools may only be emptied a minimum of 48 hours after any chemical 
treatments were added. 

 

 
 



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
  

R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  CO U N C I L  
 

Meeting Date: April 10, 2023 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 12 - Camping 

Council Sponsor:  Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
OVERVIEW 
Members of the Town Council have expressed an interest in clarifying and consolidating the ordinances as 
they relate to camping in public parks, open space, and on public ways. 
 
The proposed ordinance amendments remove individual camping regulations throughout various sections 
of Title 12 and consolidates them into a single chapter that addresses not just specific parks, but all 
publicly owned parks, open space, and rights of way. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION  
Approve the declaration as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Draft Title 12 – Camping Amendment 
- Draft Title 12 – Camping Enactment 
- Fort Foster Rules (see special event) 



DRAFT: April 10, 2023 

Chapter 12.11  
CAMPING 

1. Delete Camping from Seapoint and Crescent Beaches as follows:  

§ 12.4.14 Camping prohibited.  1 
Camping is prohibited from 11:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 2 

2. Delete Camping from Rogers Parks as follows: 3 

§12.3.3 Restrictions.  4 
H. Camping is prohibited from 12:01 a.m. to 6:00 a.m., unless permitted by the Town Council.  5 

3. Delete Camping from Town Farm Forest as follows: 6 

§ 12.7.3 Restrictions.  7 
H. Camping is prohibited from 12:01 a.m. to 6:00 a.m., unless permitted by the Town Council.  8 

4. Create a new Title 12.11 Camping as follows: 9 

§ 12.11.1 Definitions 10 
The following terms have the meanings indicated in this section: 11 

CAMPING 12 
 Camping is the setting up or occupation of any temporary shelter, tent, lean-to, or other temporary 13 
structure intended to provide its occupants with refuge from the weather and natural elements. 14 

§ 12.11.2 Prohibited  15 
A. Camping is prohibited in public open space, on public rights of ways, and in Town parks excepting 16 

Fort Foster, from 11:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m., unless permitted by the Town Council. 17 

B. Camping in Fort Foster is permitted only upon approval of a special event permit, in accordance with 18 
Fort Foster rules. 19 

§ 12.11.3 Enforcement 20 
A. This chapter is enforced by the Police Department and the Code Enforcement Officer. 21 

B. The Town may remove any camping structure found in violation of this chapter. 22 

§ 12.11.4 Violation 23 
A. Any violation of this chapter will be assessed a penalty of $50. 24 

B. Repeat offenders and/or those who fail to pay penalties in accordance with this Title may be issued a 25 
no trespass order for one year. 26 



KITTERY TOWN CODE 
TITLE 12 

CAMPING 
 

DRAFT:  April 10, 2023 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town seeks to clarify and achieve consistency regarding its regulations on 10 
camping on public property, open space, or rights of way; and 11 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN 12 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 12 13 
OF THE TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 14 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 15 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 16 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 17 

passed by a vote of _______. 18 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 19 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 20 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 21 



1 
 

FORT FOSTER PARK 
POLICIES AND REGULATIONS 

 
Fort Foster is a local treasure, steeped in history with trails, beaches, play areas and outdoor function 
space.  Fort Foster is also a complex and vital natural resource providing habitat to native and 
endangered animals, plants and trees. 
 
Please help the Town of Kittery protect this vital natural resource for our generation and generations 
to come. 

 
 
A. SCHEDULE AND HOURS OF OPERATIONS 

1. The park bathrooms and parking lots will be open on weekends, from 10AM to sunset, in May 
before Memorial Day and in September after Labor Day. 

2. The park bathrooms and parking lots will be open sevens day a week, from 10AM to 8PM or 
sunset, whichever is earlier, between Memorial Day and Labor Day, inclusive. 

3. The park parking lots may be open October through April, excepting when snow or ice events 
have made the park roads and/or parking lots unsafe for vehicles.  

B. PARKING AND VEHICLES 
1. The speed limit on all park roads is 5MPH. 
2. Parking is allowed in designated areas only. 
3. Non‐motorized watercraft, windsurfers, sea kayaks and canoes may be brought in on car‐tops or 

trailers.  If trailers are used, the trailer must be parked with their vehicle after the visitor has 
dropped off their watercraft at Windsurfer’s Beach.   

C. USE OF PARK 
1. Use of the park is at own risk at all times. 
2. There are no trash receptacles in the park.  All litter, trash, and pet waste must be carried out.  

Littering is prohibited in accordance with Kittery Town Code and State Law. 
3. Grills are provided for charcoal use only, and only for the purpose of cooking.  Bonfires are not 

permitted.  
4. Consumption of alcoholic beverages are prohibited by State Law. 
5. The Town is not responsible for lost or stolen property or items. 
6. There are no lifeguards on duty.  Swimming is at own risk. 
7. There is no swimming or diving allowed from the pier. 
8. Non‐motorized watercraft, windsurfers, sea kayaks and canoes may only be launched from 

Windsurfer’s Beach.   
9. Removal or destruction of any buildings, facilities, flora, or fauna is prohibited. 
10. Use of metal detectors is prohibited. 
11. Hunting is prohibited. 



2 
 

12. Scuba diving is only permitted at the designated Scuba Beach. Scuba diving is not permitted 
from the main beach area, or in areas signed as prohibited. 

13. The Town Manager may close the beaches when water quality testing determines the water to 
be unsafe for human contact. 

D. DOGS AND OTHER ANIMALS 
1. With the exception of dogs, no domestic animals are allowed in the park.  
2. Dogs are prohibited on Pier South Beach, as designated by signs, on weekends in May and 

September, and every day from Memorial Day to Labor Day, inclusive. 
3. Dogs must be on leash 10AM to park closing on weekends in May and September, and every 

day from Memorial Day to Labor Day, inclusive. 
4. Dogs must be on leash 10AM to 3PM from the day after Labor Day of one year, to the day 

before Memorial Day of the next year. 
5. The maximum leash length allowed is 10 feet.  
6. Visitors must immediately collect and secure pet waste while in the park. Visitors must 

maintain possession of their pet's waste while on public property; it may not be left behind for 
future retrieval. 

7. Visitors may not bring in more than three dogs at any time while in the park. 
 
E. SEASON and DAY PASSES 

1. All pass fees are established by the Town Council in Appendix A of the Kittery Town Code. 
2. No visitor may enter the park during park operating hours without a valid Season Pass or a Day 

Pass.   
3. Season Passes are good for the calendar year in which they are issued. 
4. Town residents or property owners, except organizations and corporations, may obtain a 

Resident Season Pass.   
5. Proof of residency can be satisfied by one or more of the following showing a Kittery address: 

a. Maine Driver’s License 
b. State of Maine ID 
c. Maine vehicle registration 
d. Utility bill 
e. Personal check 
f. Rent or lease agreement 
g. Buyers order for a new home 
h. Registered voter in Kittery 

6. A season pass may be used by the season pass holder and their immediate family residing 
within the same household.  

7. Town residents or property owners age 62 or older may obtain a Senior Citizen Season Pass. 
8. Disabled American Veterans who are 100% disabled may obtain a free season pass upon 

presentation of a Federally issued 100% Disabled Veteran Identification Card or a Veterans 
Administration Awards Letter of Entitlement stating 100% disability. 

9. All others may obtain a general Season Pass. 
10. Season passes are assigned to a vehicle.  To apply for a pass the applicant must provide proof of 

registration for the vehicle that will be associated with the pass.  Once issued, the season pass 



3 
 

must be affixed to the vehicle, no higher than 4 inches from the bottom line of the driver’s side 
of the windshield.     

11. Failure to affix the Season Pass to the vehicle as directed will result in denied entrance or the 
requirement to purchase a day pass for that day.  No exceptions will be made. 

12. Replacement passes may be obtained if lost, for a fee.  Receipt of the original pass purchase is 
required.    

13. Up to five “pass cards” will be issued to each season pass holder and allows for entry on foot or 
bicycle for the pass holder. 

14. Vehicles with a capacity of more than 15 passengers may not obtain or use a season pass. These 
vehicles must use a Day Pass to enter the park. 

15. All other means of entry while the park is open will be through the purchase or issuance of a 
day pass. 

16. Only one day pass purchase may be used for credit towards the purchase of a season pass.  The 
day pass must have been purchased in the same calendar year as the season pass. 

 
F. RESERVATION OF PAVILIONS  

1. All pavilion reservation fees are established by the Town Council in Appendix A of the Kittery 
Town Code. 

2. The pavilions may be reserved for group‐use. 
3. The maximum number permitted in any group is one hundred (100) people.  
4. Groups may reserve a pavilion only once per season. 
5. The reservation fee for a pavilion assures the reservation holder that the pavilion will be 

reserved for their use. 
6. All groups reserving a pavilion must leave the area in as good condition as it was found.  Future 

pavilion reservation or access to the park may be revoked, and/or fees to repair damage may 
be incurred. 

7. All trash and waste must be removed by the group. Waste receptacles will not be provided by 
the Town.  

8. Any group reserving a pavilion must leave the area by 7:00PM, or one hour before posted gate 
closing, whichever is earlier.  

9. Reservation applications for the pavilion are available through the Town.   
a. January 1 ‐ April 15 ‐ Reservations accepted from any Kittery group on a first come, first 

serve basis. 
b. April 16‐September 23 – Reservations accepted from the general public. 

10. Two signs must be placed by the reservation holder, on the day of their reservation.  One must 
be placed at the intersection of the Pier Road and the Pavilion Road, and the other at the 
Pavilion stating the following: PAVILION RESERVED TODAY ‐ (NAME OF GROUP).  Signs should 
be 2’X2’.  Signs must be removed at the end of the day by the reservation holder. 

11. Payment of the pavilion fee does not include the park entrance fee for visitors associated with 
the reservation.  Visitor entrance fees will be collected at the gate.  

12. Kittery based civic, social, or non‐profit organizations will be allowed into the park for one day 
per season free of charges provided:  

a. The reservation is made for weekends in May or September or weekdays from 
Memorial Day through Labor Day. 



4 
 

b. The organization submits a written application to reserve the pavilion and for the fees to 
be waived at least 7 days prior to the desired date. 

c. Traip Class Reunions must be celebrating their 10th, 20th, 25th, or 50th anniversary for 
fees to be waived. 

 
G. SPECIAL EVENTS  

1. The park may be used for special events organized by the Town or Kittery‐connected non‐
profits and community organizations upon approval of the Town Manager.   

2. All special events must be compatible with the mission of the park. 
3. The Town Manager will seek recommendations on applications for special events from the 

Parks Commission, Public Works Department, and any other Town department or state entity 
as may be relevant to the special event application. 

4. Fees may be charged for special events to cover the costs of Town employees and resources 
needed for the special event (e.g., providing access to the park, bathroom facilities, etc.).  Fees 
will be determined on a case‐by‐case basis, specific to the needs and nature of the special 
event. 

 
H. COMMERCIAL USE 

1. Commercial activities, such as selling merchandise and providing guided tours or instructional 
courses where participants pay a fee for the services, are prohibited from the park without 
prior approval of the Town Council. 

2. Commercial tours involving non‐motorized watercraft (e.g., sea kayak tours) are prohibited 
from launching within the park. 

 
I. AMENDMENTS 

Approved as amended 06/09/97 
Approved as amended 09/03/97  
Approved as amended 12/20/99 
Approved as amended 04/24/00 
Approved as amended 05/29/02                
Approved as amended 08/23/04  
Approved as amended 06/27/05 
Approved as amended 09/26/05 
Approved as amended 01/28/08 
Approved as amended 04/14/08 
Approved as amended 10/16/13 
Approved as amended 11/24/14 
Approved as amended 06/26/17 
Approved as amended 01/24/19 
Approved as amended 03/28/22 

kamaral
Highlight



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
  

R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  CO U N C I L  
 

Meeting Date: April 10, 2023 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Title 10 – Cutts Island Lane Stop Intersection 

Council Sponsor:  Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
OVERVIEW 
The Town received a request from residents of Chauncey Creek Road to provide traffic calming/speed 
reduction solutions.  We are investigating several short-term options including variable speed signs, 
flashing stop beacons, and additional intermittent police presence.   
 
In internal discussion regarding traffic calming in this area, the Police Chief recommended that the 
intersection of Cutts Island Lane and Chauncey Creek Road be changed to a stop intersection (from a 
yield intersection) to improve safety.   
 
Though this does not directly address the residents’ concerns regarding speeds on the other end of 
Chauncey Creek Road, the proposed amendment will improve safety overall for traffic in that area. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION  
Approve the declaration as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

- Draft Title 10 – Cutts Island Lane Stop Amendment 
- Draft Title 10 – Cutts Island Lane Stop Enactment 
- Map of impacted area 



DRAFT: April 10, 2023 
 

 
TITLE 10 

TRAFFIC SAFETY  

 
1. ADD STOP INTERSECTION in §10.2.2.1 On public ways as follows: 
The following intersections are designated as stop intersections and stop signs are to be so erected: 

Stop Sign on   At Intersection With 

Chauncey Creek Road, southeast  Cutts Island Lane 
Cutts Island Lane   Chauncey Creek Road, southeast 
 
2. DELETE YIELD INTERSECTION in §10.2.3 Yield intersections designated as follows: 
The following intersections are designated as yield intersections and yield signs are to be so erected: 

Yield Sign on At Intersection with 

Cutts Island Lane Chauncey Creek Road, southeast 

 



KITTERY TOWN CODE 
TITLE 10 

CUTTS ISLAND LANE/CHAUNCEY CREEK ROAD INTERSECTION 
 

DRAFT:  April 10, 2023 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Town seeks to improve traffic safety at the intersection of Cutts Island Lane 10 
and Chauncey Creek Road by creating a stop intersection in lieu of the yield intersection 11 
currently in effect; 12 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN 13 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENT TO TITLE 10 14 
OF THE TOWN CODE, AS PRESENTED. 15 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 16 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 17 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 18 

passed by a vote of _______. 19 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 20 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 21 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 22 



March 22, 2023

Data shown on this map is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAI Technologies are not responsible for any use for other purposes
or misuse or misrepresentation of this map.

Water-poly

Map - Lot Labels

Right of Way

Cemetery

Property Hook

PWater

Property Line

Public Road

www.cai-tech.com

Cutts Island Lane
Kittery, ME

1 inch = 137 Feet

4122751370

®





April 5, 2023

Data shown on this map is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAI Technologies are not responsible for any use for other purposes
or misuse or misrepresentation of this map.

Paper Street Abandonment
Kittery, ME

1 inch = 137 Feet

4112741370
www.cai-tech.com®

Highlight

Highlight

Highlight



Highlight



kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



Parcel Number: 
CAMA Number:  
Property Address:

3-110
3-110
10 RUDOLPH AVENUE

Mailing Address: WATERHOUSE, ANN MARIE J  
WATERHOUSE, ANN MARIE J
10 RUDOLPH AVENUE 
KITTERY, ME 03904

Parcel Number: 
CAMA Number:  
Property Address:

3-111
3-111
17 PARK AVENUE

Mailing Address: GILBERT, STEVEN C  GILBERT, STEVEN 
C
17 PARK AVENUE 
KITTERY, ME 03904-1546

Parcel Number: 
CAMA Number:  
Property Address:

3-119
3-119
6 RUDOLPH AVENUE

Mailing Address: SHIELDS, MICHELLE A  SHIELDS, 
MICHELLE A
6 RUDOLPH AVENUE 
KITTERY, ME 03904-1512

Parcel Number: 
CAMA Number:  
Property Address:

3-127
3-127
11 PARK AVENUE

Mailing Address: LEMONT, ERIC T.  LEMONT, ERIC T.
11 PARK AVENUE 
KITTERY, ME 03904

Abutters:

Parcel Number: 
CAMA Number:  
Property Address:

N/A
N/A
Paper Street

Subject Property:

Abutters List Report - Kittery, ME

4/5/2023

www.cai-tech.com
Data shown on this report is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAI Technologies 

are not responsible for any use for other purposes or misuse or misrepresentation of this report. Page 1 of 1

Abutters List Report
Kittery, ME
April 05, 2023



MRS Title 23, §3027. VACATION OF PROPOSED TOWN WAYS IN LAND SUBDIVISION; REVOCATION OF DEDICATION

Generated 
09.28.2022

§3027. Vacation of proposed town ways in land subdivision; revocation of 
dedication |  1

§3027.  Vacation of proposed town ways in land subdivision; revocation of dedication
1.  Vacation of ways.  When proposed town ways have been described in a recorded subdivision 

plan and lots have been sold with reference to the plan, the municipal officers, after notice to the 
municipal planning board or office, may, on their own initiative, on petition of the abutting property 
owners or on petition of any person claiming a property interest in the proposed way, vacate in whole 
or in part proposed ways that have not been accepted.  The municipal officers shall give best practicable 
notice, as defined in section 3026‑A, subsection 1, of the proposed vacation to owners of lots on the 
recorded subdivision plan and their mortgagees of record. The notice must conform in substance to the 
following form:

NOTICE
(The municipal officers of) (A petition has been filed with the municipal officers 

of)_____________________ (Name of Town  or City)__________________ (propose to) (to vacate) 
the following (ways) (way) shown upon a subdivision plan (named) (dated) (and) recorded in 
the_________________________County Registry of Deeds, Book of Plans, Volume________, 
Page________.
(Herein list or describe ways to be vacated)

If the municipal officers enter an order vacating (these ways) (this way) any person claiming an 
interest in (these ways) (this way) (adverse to the claims of the petitioners) must, within one (1) year 
of the recording of the order, file a written claim thereof under oath in the_________________ County 
Registry of Deeds and must, within one hundred eighty (180) days of the filing of the claim, commence 
an action in the Superior Court in ___________________ County in accordance with the Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 23, section 3027‑A.
The municipal officers shall file an order of vacation with the municipal clerk that specifies the location 
of the way, the names of owners of lots on the recorded subdivision plan and the amount of damages, 
if any, determined by the municipal officers to be paid to each lot owner or other person having an 
interest in the way.  Damages and reasonable costs as determined by the municipal officers must be 
paid by the petitioners, if any.
[PL 2015, c. 464, §6 (AMD).]

2.  Revocation of dedication.  A dedication of property or interest therein to the municipality 
described in a recorded subdivision plot plan may not be revoked or vacated by the dedicator unless no 
lot has been sold with reference to the plan, and unless an amended subdivision plan has been approved 
by the municipal subdivision review authority and recorded in the appropriate registry of deeds.
[PL 1981, c. 683, §2 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1975, c. 711, §8 (NEW). PL 1981, c. 683, §2 (RPR). PL 1987, c. 385, §1 (AMD). PL 2015, 
c. 464, §6 (AMD). 

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include 
the following disclaimer in your publication:
All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects 
changes made through the Second Regular Session of the 130th Maine Legislature and is current through October 1, 2022. The 
text is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the 
Maine Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.
The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our 
goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to 
preserve the State's copyright rights.



MRS Title 23, §3027. VACATION OF PROPOSED TOWN WAYS IN LAND SUBDIVISION; REVOCATION OF DEDICATION

2  |
§3027. Vacation of proposed town ways in land subdivision; revocation of 

dedication Generated 
09.28.2022

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the 
public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.









From: Robert Richter
To: Jillian Richards
Subject: RE: Special Activity / Amusement Application
Date: Thursday, March 30, 2023 11:02:06 AM

We are good with this Jillian, thank you!

Bob

 Robert Richter
 Chief of Police
 Kittery Police Department
 200 Rogers Rd.
 Kittery, ME  03904 
207-439-1638
www.KitteryPolice.com

F.B.I.N.A. 244
THIS EMAIL MAY CONTAIN FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY AND LAW ENFORCEMENT SENSITIVE INFORMATION.  This E-mail
(including attachments) is covered by the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, 18 USC 2510-2521, is confidential
and may be legally privileged. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any retention,
dissemination, distribution, or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. Please reply
to the sender that you have received the message in error and then delete the message and any attachments.

From: Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 29, 2023 11:35 AM
To: Robert Richter <rrichter@kitterypolice.com>
Subject: Special Activity / Amusement Application

Hi Chief,

I received an application from When Pig’s Fly for a Special Activity / Amusement. Please find the 
application attached. Just need the PD’s approval before I present it to the Council.

Thanks!

Jillian Richards
Town Clerk

mailto:rrichter@kitterypolice.com
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org
http://www.kitterypolice.com/


Registrar of Voters
General Assistance Administrator
Town of Kittery
200 Rogers Road
Kittery, ME  03904
207-475-1313  JRichards@kitteryme.org

mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org


From: Richard Maina
To: Jillian Richards
Subject: Re: Plant Sale Sign Request Information
Date: Tuesday, April 4, 2023 9:42:56 AM

Hi Jillian
Thank you for your call and email. Here is our request .

The Harbourside garden club is requesting permission to display
Signs for our annual plant sale,to be held on May 27 th. We would put the signs up a week 
prior to the sale.

Thank you
Nancy Marina
Harbourside garden club

On April 4, 2023, at 8:51 AM, Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org> wrote:

Hi Nancy,

Please just email me over a formal request for the signage to be put up for the plant sale. 

Thank you!

Jillian Richards
Town Clerk
Registrar of Voters
General Assistance Administrator
Town of Kittery
200 Rogers Road
Kittery, ME  03904
207-475-1313  JRichards@kitteryme.org

mailto:rnmaina@msn.com
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org

	2023.04.10 Agenda
	2023.04.10 TMR
	ADP7A2B.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	2.27.23 Minutes
	School Budget Packet
	2023.04.10 Title 16 Stormwater Management
	2023.04.10 Title 12 - Camping
	ADPCB67.tmp
	Chapter 12.11  CAMPING
	1. Delete Camping from Seapoint and Crescent Beaches as follows:
	§ 12.4.14 Camping prohibited.
	§12.3.3 Restrictions.
	§ 12.7.3 Restrictions.
	§ 12.11.1 Definitions
	§ 12.11.2 Prohibited
	§ 12.11.3 Enforcement
	§ 12.11.4 Violation



	2023.04.10 Title 10 - Cutts Island Lane
	ADP7026.tmp
	TITLE 10
	1. ADD STOP INTERSECTION in §10.2.2.1 On public ways as follows:
	Chauncey Creek Road, southeast  Cutts Island Lane
	Cutts Island Lane   Chauncey Creek Road, southeast
	2. DELETE YIELD INTERSECTION in §10.2.3 Yield intersections designated as follows:


	2023.04.10 Paper Street Vacation
	2023-04-02 19-56
	When Pigs Fly -  Special Activity Application
	Special Activity When Pigs Fly - PD Approval
	Harbourside Garden Club Signage Request



